
 

 

**Meeting will be held at the Capitola Community Center 
4400 Jade Street, Room B, Capitola** 

 

 

AGENDA 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
Thursday, June 6, 2013 – 7:00 PM 

 Chairperson Mick Routh 
 Commissioners Ron Graves 
  Gayle Ortiz 
  Linda Smith 
  TJ Welch 

 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 
 

B. Public Comments 
Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their 
name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

 
C. Commission Comments 

 
D. Staff Comments 

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A. May 2, 2013 Regular Meeting Minutes 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine and 
will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these 
items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public or the 
Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
A. 137 CORTEZ STREET      #13-062      APN:  036-226-11 

Design Permit to construct a second floor deck in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) 
Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Owner:  David McKinnon, filed:  5/6/13 

 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – Thursday, June 6, 2013  2 
  

 

 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a Public 
Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) Planning 
Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission Discussion; and 
6) Decision. 

 
A. 4980 CAPITOLA ROAD      #13-045      APN:  034-041-07 

Design Permit to convert an existing office use into a duplex in the CR 
(Commercial/Residential) Zoning District 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Owner:  Mark Murphy 
Applicant:  Thomas Branagan, filed:  4/5/13 

 
B. 305  FANMAR WAY      #13-026      APN:  035-161-14 

Coastal Permit and Design Permit to remodel an existing multi-story mingle-family 
house, including a first and second story addition in the RM-LM (Multi-Family 
Residence-Low Medium) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
This project requires a Coastal Permit which is not appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission. 
Owner:  Peter Wilk, filed:  2/19/13 
Representative:  Derek Van Alstine 

 
C. 1575 38th AVENUE      #13-061      APN:  034-181-17 

Planned Development Rezoning, Conditional Use Permit, and Design Permit to 
demolish a commercial salvage yard (Capitola Freight and Salvage) and construct a 
three-story, 23-unit residential senior housing project in the CN (Neighborhood 
Commercial) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Mitigated Negative Declaration 
Property Owner:  Maureen A. Romac, filed:  5/11/13 
Representative:  Steve Thomas 

 
6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 
 
7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 

Adjourn to the next Planning Commission on Thursday, July 18, 2013 at 7:00 PM, in the City Hall 
Council Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – Thursday, June 6, 2013  3 
  

 

 
 

 
APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council within the 
(10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, Variance, and Coastal 
Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural and Site Review can be appealed 
to the City Council within the (10) working days following the date of the Commission action.  If the tenth day falls 
on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is extended to the next business day. 
 
All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 
considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 
accompanied by a one hundred forty two dollar ($142.00) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit that 
is appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 
Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else raised at the 
public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City at, or prior to, the 
public hearing. 
 
Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 1st 
Thursday of each month at 7:00 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola. 
 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda Packet are 
available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.ci.capitola.ca.us.  Agendas are also available at the Capitola 
Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday meeting.  Need more 
information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 
Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public record 
under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of the Planning 
Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning Commission more than 72 hours 
prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
during normal business hours. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with a 
disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  
Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in the City Council 
Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting due to a disability, please 
contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting at (831) 475-7300.  
In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from 
wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 
Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications Cable TV 
Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed at 12:00 Noon on the Saturday following the meetings on Community 
Television of Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25).  Meetings can also be viewed 
from the City's website:  www.ci.capitola.ca.us 
 
 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
 
 
Chairperson Routh called the Regular Meeting of the Capitola Planning Commission to order at 7 p.m.     
 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioners: Ron Graves, Gayle Ortiz, Linda Smith, and TJ Welch and 
Chairperson Mick Routh 
   

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda  
 
Chairperson Routh announced that at the applicant’s request, item 5.B would be continued.  
 
Commissioners pulled consent items 4.A, 4.B, and 4.C for discussion. 

 
B. Public Comments  

 
Peter Kellison of 302 Fanmar spoke to item 5.B, saying he appreciated that the item was continued. 
He learned of the project from the most recent postcard notice, and has been in contact with the 
owner regarding the massing and view impact of the proposal. He said he is hopeful for ongoing 
dialogue among all the stakeholders. 
 

C. Commission Comments 
 
Chairman Routh welcomed new Community Development Director Rich Grunow. 
 
Commissioner Smith noted that Council Chambers feature the first in what will be a rotating display of 
artwork by local students. The current collection is from Soquel High in a surrealist style using linear 
perspectives.  
 

D. Staff Comments - None 
 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A. April 4, 2013, Regular Planning Commission Meeting 
 

Commissioner Ortiz added the adjective “historic” to phrases in her comments for item 5.B. 
 
A motion to approve the April 4, 2013, meeting minutes as amended was made by 
Commissioner Graves and seconded by Commissioner Smith. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Graves, Ortiz, Smith, and 
Welch and Chairperson Routh. No: None. Abstain: None. 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

THURSDAY, May 2, 2013 
7 P.M. – CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 
 

-1-

Item #: 3. 5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – May 2, 2013  2 
 

P:\Current Planning\MINUTES\Planning Commission\2013\Draft Minutes\5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.doc 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
A. 120 MONTEREY AVENUE      #13-032      APN:  035-261-08 

Design Permit to construct an interpretive three-panel kiosk in Esplanade Park and 
integrated design concept to rehabilitate existing interpretive signs along Soquel Creek. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Owner:  City of Capitola, filed: 3/12/13 

 
Lisa Murphy presented the application. She noted that it does not place any interpretive signs in 
Esplanade Park, and although the City’s Arts and Cultural Commission initially hoped to echo the 
finish of the kiosk on interpretive signs along Soquel Creek, that restoration project proved more 
expensive than anticipated and will be pursued at a later date. She brought a mock-up of the kiosk 
design and samples of the finishes. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz asked Ms. Murphy to clarify the Planning Commission’s function and jurisdiction. 
Ms. Murphy explained that the Commission would review and approve the height, dimensions, and 
placement. Design and elements will go to the City Council for approval, as it oversees the Art and 
Cultural Commission. 
 
Chairperson Routh opened the public meeting. There was no public comment. 
 
Commissioner Smith, who serves on the Art and Cultural Commission, noted that a lot of thought 
went into the project. The location and size are meant to be large enough to display information 
effectively without being an eyesore.  
 
Commissioner Ortiz asked for confirmation that the location would not interfere with unloading shuttles 
and vans.  
 
A motion to approve project application #13-032 with the following conditions and findings 
was made by Commissioner Smith and seconded by Commissioner Welch: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project is to construct an informational kiosk in Esplanade Park. 

 
2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the kiosk must be approved by 
the Planning Commission. 
 
3.  Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 9 p.m., and Saturday 9 a.m. – 4 p.m., 
per city ordinance. 
 
4.  Prior to granting of final inspection, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development Director. 
 
FINDINGS 
 
a.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project 
conforms to the signage development standards of the CV (Central Village) Zoning District.  
Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, 
General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

-2-

Item #: 3. 5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – May 2, 2013  3 
 

P:\Current Planning\MINUTES\Planning Commission\2013\Draft Minutes\5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.doc 

 
b.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project 
conforms to the development standards of the CV (Central Village) Zoning District.  Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and integrity of the 
neighborhood. 
 
c.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a)(e) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code 
of Regulations. 
 
This project is to construct an informational kiosk in the CV (Central Village) Zoning District.  Section 
15303(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of new small accessory structures.  
 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Graves, Ortiz, Smith, and 
Welch and Chairperson Routh. No: None. Abstain: None. 
 

B. 4980 CAPITOLA ROAD      #13-045      APN:  034-041-07 

Design Permit to convert an existing office use into a duplex in the CR 
Commercial/Residential) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Owner:  Mark Murphy 
Applicant:  Thomas Branagan, filed:  4/5/13 

 
Commissioner Smith recused herself because she owns property close to the project.  
 
Chairperson Routh explained that he pulled the item from the consent agenda because of the lack of 
landscaping as a residential unit. He suggested the commission add a condition to remove two of the 
four open parking spaces in front for landscaping and recommended continuing the item for a 
landscaping plan.   
 
Tom Branagan represented the applicant and confirmed that the current parking plan reflects six 
parking spaces, two of which are covered. He said the property owner would likely agree to remove 
parking for more landscaping. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz suggested a compromise with one space replaced with landscaping. Mr. 
Branagan said he will discuss the possibility with the owner and agreed with commissioners that the 
parking spot on the far right was a likely candidate for removal.  
 
Commissioner Graves said he feels that the four spaces across the front looks like a sea of parking 
and he will want to review how much the landscaping softens the appearance before he could 
promise to support the removal of only one space.  
 
Commissioner Welch asked for the landscaping requirement for the CR (Commercial Residential) 
zone, and Interim Planner Danielle Uharriet responded it is two feet on either side of the drive. She 
also confirmed that unlike the CN district, the CR zoning does not hold residential uses to different 
standards. Commissioner Graves asked for a reference to that difference in the code and when it was 
enacted. 
 
A motion to continue project application #13-045 to June 6, 2013, was made by Commissioner 
Graves and seconded by Commissioner Ortiz. 
 

-3-

Item #: 3. 5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – May 2, 2013  4 
 

P:\Current Planning\MINUTES\Planning Commission\2013\Draft Minutes\5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.doc 

 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Graves, Ortiz, and Welch and 
Chairperson Routh. No: None. Abstain: Commissioner Smith. 
  

C. 100 OAKLAND AVENUE      #13-036      APN:  036-133-09 

Coastal Permit and Design Permit to remodel an existing single family dwelling unit on a 
multi-unit property in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
This project requires a Coastal Permit which is appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Owner:  James Castellanos, filed:  3/19/13 
Representative:  Dennis Norton 

 
Commissioner Smith rejoined the meeting. 
 
Commissioner Graves explained he pulled the item because of concern about its description on public 
noticing as an existing single-family home on a multi-unit property. He said he believes it is part of a 
four-plex. He acknowledged the situation is made more confusing because the building in question 
used to have a Grand Avenue address, but now shares the same Oakland Avenue address as the 
other dwellings on the parcel. That also raises questions of where the front of the home is for 
determining setbacks, he said. He noted he is very pleased with the design; he just believes this is a 
change in calling the front unit a single-family home.  
 
Chairman Routh said he feels that unit has always been considered single-family.   
 
There was no public comment. 
 
A motion to approve project application #13-036 with the following conditions and findings 
was made by Commissioner Ortiz and seconded by Commissioner Smith: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The approval is for a Coastal Permit and Design Permit to remodel (new exterior staircase, 
reconfigured floor plan, including 60-square-feet of existing rear deck area converted to interior 
square footage, relocated fireplace, modified roof design, changes to window configuration, rebuilding 
front deck, changes to the exterior building materials) an existing single-family dwelling unit on a multi-
unit property at 100 Oakland Avenue (formerly 402 Grand Avenue).  

 
2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structures must be approved 
by the Planning Commission. 

 
3.  Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 9 p.m., and Saturday, 9 a.m. – 4 p.m., 
per city ordinance. 

 
4.  A drainage plan or design shall be submitted with the final building plans, to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Director. 

 
5.  The final landscape plan shall be submitted with the building permit application and will include the 
specific number of plants of each type and size, as well as the irrigation system to be utilized.  
Landscaping shall be installed prior to final building occupancy. 
 
6.  Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. 

-4-

Item #: 3. 5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – May 2, 2013  5 
 

P:\Current Planning\MINUTES\Planning Commission\2013\Draft Minutes\5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.doc 

 
FINDINGS 
 
a.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance and General Plan. 
 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have reviewed the project and determined that the project conforms to the development 
standards of the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District.  Conditions of approval have been 
included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
b.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
 
Community Development staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have reviewed the project and determined that the proposed remodel  will not have a 
negative impact on the character and integrity of the surrounding neighborhood.  Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and integrity of the 
area. 
 
c.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(b) of the California Environmental 
Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations. 
 
The proposed project involves the remodel of an existing single-family dwelling unit on a multi-unit 
property in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District.  Section 15303(b) exempts the 
construction or conversion of multi-family residences in a residential zone. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Graves, Ortiz, Smith, and 
Welch and Chairperson Routh. No: None. Abstain: None. 
 
5.  PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
A. 3555 CLARES STREET #PP & #R     #13-044      APN:  034-261-59 

Conditional Use Permit to expand an existing coffee house and establish a wine bar with 
the sale and dispensing of alcohol in the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Owner:  Brown Ranch Marketplace 
Applicant:  Aaron Anderson, filed: 4/2/13 

 
Interim Planner Danielle Uharriet presented the staff report. She added that Police Chief Escalante 
reviewed the application and added conditions.  
 
Commissioner Ortiz asked if 10 p.m. is the latest closing time for the Brown Ranch Center and 
recalled that hours were set based on talks with neighbors.  
 
Chairman Routh opened the public hearing. There was no public comment. 
 
Commissioner Graves recalled that most neighbor concern has been about the time of morning 
deliveries, and suggested a condition be added requiring adherence to existing hours of delivery.  
 
A motion to approve project application #13-044 with the following conditions and findings 
was made by Commissioner Graves and seconded by Commissioner Smith: 
 

-5-

Item #: 3. 5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – May 2, 2013  6 
 

P:\Current Planning\MINUTES\Planning Commission\2013\Draft Minutes\5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.doc 

CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The Conditional Use Permit is to allow a 2090-square-foot coffee house and wine bar at 3555 
Clares Street Suites PP and R. 

 
2.  The business hours are 6 a.m. to 9 p.m., Monday through Thursday, 6 a.m. to 10 p.m. Friday and 
Saturday, and 7 a.m. to 9 p.m. on Sunday.  The wine bar service will begin at 4 p.m. Monday through 
Friday and 12 noon on Saturday and Sunday. 

 
3. Acoustic entertainment is allowed on Friday, Saturday, and Sunday. 

 
4.  No sound shall be audible outside the business. 

 
5.  No dancing is allowed on the premises. 

 
6.  Private events of the entire premises are prohibited.  The 96-square-foot private meeting room 
may be reserved for special events, functions, and meetings. 

 
7.  The applicant is required to complete and follow the Responsible Beverage Service (RBS) 
practices and procedures.  Employees who serve alcoholic beverages are required to attend and 
complete L.E.A.D.S. training offered by the Capitola Police Department. 

 
8.  The establishment must maintain a valid license from the Alcohol Beverage Control. 

 
9.  The applicant is responsible for maintaining the area directly in front of the business free from litter 
and/or graffiti. 
 
10.  The applicant shall obtain a Sign Permit consistent with the Brown Ranch Marketplace approved 
master sign program. 
 
11.  Outdoor displays, sandwich-board-type signage, and other movable freestanding signs are 
prohibited. 

 
12.  A six-month review of the conditions of approval shall be conducted by the Community 
Development Director. 
 
13.  Any significant changes to the use or the site shall be approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
14.  The application shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon evidence of non-compliance 
with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions. 
 
15.  Delivery hours shall be limited to 8 a.m. - 5 p.m.  Garbage and recycling areas shall be located as 
far as reasonably possible from the residential area.  Garbage pick-up shall be limited to 8 a.m. –  
5 p.m. 

 
FINDINGS 
 
a.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance and General Plan. 
 
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project and 
determined that the proposed use is permitted in the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District 

-6-

Item #: 3. 5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – May 2, 2013  7 
 

P:\Current Planning\MINUTES\Planning Commission\2013\Draft Minutes\5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.doc 

with a Conditional Use Permit.  Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives 
of the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 

 
b.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
 
Community Development staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project and 
determined that the proposed hybrid coffee house/wine bar will not have a negative impact on the 
character and integrity of the commercial area.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure 
that the project maintains the character and integrity of the area. 
 
c.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental 
Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations. 
 
The proposed project involves a conditional use permit to allow a use in an existing building.  No 
adverse environmental impacts were discovered during project review by either the Community 
Development staff or the Planning Commission. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Graves, Ortiz, Smith, and 
Welch and Chairperson Routh. No: None. Abstain: None. 
 

B.  305 FANMAR WAY  #13-019  APN: 035-161-14 
Coastal Permit and Design Permit to remodel an existing multi-story single-family 
house, including a first and second story addition in the RM-LM (Multi-Family 
Residence – Low Medium) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
This project requires a Coastal Permit which is not appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission. 
Owner:  Peter Wilk, filed: 2/19/13 
Applicant:  Derek Van Alstine 

 
This application was continued to the June 6, 2013, meeting at the request of the applicant. 
 
6. STAFF REPORT 

 
None 

 
7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

 
Commissioner Welch confirmed that the Commission on the Environment has been suspended for 
about six months during the staff transition and that any activities are ad hoc outside the scope of 
City oversight.  
 

8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The Planning Commission adjourned the meeting at 7:26 p.m. to a Regular Meeting of the 
Planning Commission to be held on Thursday, June 6, 2013, at 7 p.m. in the Capitola Community 
Center, 4400 Jade St., Room B, Capitola, California. 

 
Approved by the Planning Commission on June 6, 2013. 

 
 

________________________________ 
Linda Fridy, Minute Clerk 

-7-

Item #: 3. 5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-8-



 
 

S T A F F   R E P O R T 
 

TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  JUNE 6, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: 137 CORTEZ STREET  #13-062  APN:  036-226-11 

Design Permit to construct a second floor deck in the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residence) Zoning District 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Owner:  David McKinnon, filed:  5/6/13 

 
 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant is proposing a second floor deck in the rear yard at 137 Cortez Street in the R-1 
(Single-Family Residence) Zoning District.  The use is consistent with the General Plan, Zoning 
Ordinance and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

STRUCTURAL DATA 
 
SETBACKS Required Existing Proposed 

Front Yard 
First Floor 15’-0" 20'-0" 20'0" 

Second Floor 20’-0" 20’-0" 20’-0" 

Rear Yard 

First Floor 20’-0" 34'-0" 34'-0" 

Second Floor 20’-0" 34'-0" 34'-0" 
 

Side Yard 

First Floor 7'-6" interior 
10'-0" street 

8'-9" interior 
15'-6" street 

8'-9" interior 
15'-6" street 

Second Floor 5'-9" interior 
8'-6" street 

7'-0" interior 
8'-6" street 

7'-0" interior 
8'-6" street 

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT 25’ 22'-0" 22’-0” 
PROPOSED DECK HEIGHT 

Deck 
Railing 

   
10'-0" 
3'-6" 

  

-9-

Item #: 4.A. 137 Cortez Street staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013     137 Cortez Street   
 

 

 

FLOOR AREA RATIO 
Lot Size 8,305 sq. ft 
Maximum Allowable  48% 3,986 sq. ft. 
Existing 30% 2,452 sq.ft. 
Proposed  32% 2,651 sq.ft. 
 

 Existing  Proposed 
First Floor 1,150  1,150 

Garage 441 441 
Second Floor 861  861  
Second Floor Deck 0  199  
TOTAL 2,452 2,651 

  
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
The subject property is an 8,305-square-foot corner lot with an existing one- and two-story 
single-family dwelling.  In 2003, an in-ground swimming pool was installed.  In 2004, a 168- 
square-foot first floor addition was constructed at the rear of the residence to expand a family 
room.  The applicant constructed a second-story deck without the benefit of a permit and is now 
proposing to legalize the 199-square-foot deck.  A design permit is required for second-floor 
decks.  
 
The deck is located on the second floor at the rear of the home with access from interior living 
space, above the existing 2004 family room addition. The floor of the deck is 10'0" above the 
ground with a 3'-6" redwood and metal cable railing.  A wood ladder provides access to the 
ground.  The deck is set back 8'-9" from the side yard and approximately 34'-0" from the rear 
yard.  The neighbors potentially affected by the deck have submitted letters in support of the 
deck.  The second floor deck area is included in the floor area ratio.  The inclusion of the deck 
area does not exceed the allowable floor area ratio for the property. 
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15303(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of small structures with 
minor modifications to the exterior of a structure.  This project involves the construction of a 
second story deck in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #13-062 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project approval is to construct a 199-square-foot second story deck at 137 Cortez 

Street. 
 

2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 
approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
3.  Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development 
Director. 

-10-

Item #: 4.A. 137 Cortez Street staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013     137 Cortez Street   
 

 

 

 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project.  The 
project conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning 
District.  Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning 
Ordinance and the General Plan. 
 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project.  The 
project conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning 
District.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the 
character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(e) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
This project involves construction of a second story deck in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) 
Zoning District.  Section 15303 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of accessory 
structures in a single-family residence in a residential zone.  
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A.  Project Plans 
B.  Letter from Erin Adams, dated May 3, 2013 and  

Letter from Julie Atchley, dated May 4, 2013 
 
 
Report Prepared By:  Danielle Uharriet 
    Interim Senior Planner 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\6-6-13\Word\137 Cortez Street staff report.docx 

-11-

Item #: 4.A. 137 Cortez Street staff report.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-12-



-13-

Item #: 4.A. Attachment_A.pdf



-14-

Item #: 4.A. Attachment_A.pdf



-15-

Item #: 4.A. Attachment_B.pdf



-16-

Item #: 4.A. Attachment_B.pdf



 
 

S T A F F   R E P O R T 
 

TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  JUNE 6, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: 4980 CAPITOLA ROAD  #13-045  APN:  034-041-07 

Design Permit to convert an existing office use into a duplex in the CR 
(Commercial/Residential) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Owner:  Mark Murphy 
Applicant:  Thomas Branagan, filed 4/5/13 

 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
The applicant is proposing a convert an existing office use into a duplex at 4980 Capitola Road 
in the CR (Commercial/Residential) Zoning District.  The use is consistent with the General 
Plan, Zoning Ordinance and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
At its May 2, 2013, meeting, the Planning Commission continued this project application to 
address front yard landscaping.  The Commission suggested the removal of one or two parking 
spaces, and the installation of landscaping in the front yard area. 
 
The development standards for the C-R (Commercial/Residential) Zoning District, as amended 
in 1985, encourages a design emphasis placed on the provision of adequate sidewalk width, 
street trees, potted plants and front-yard landscaping.  Additionally, landscaping should further 
the creation of a harmonious pedestrian, commercial atmosphere. 
 
In response to the Commission's comments, the applicant has redesigned the front yard area by 
removing two parking spaces, 416-square-feet of existing pervious paving, and replaced the 
parking with a landscaped area of native plants and open space for the residents.  The existing 
136 square feet of landscaped area in front of the residence will remain, and is incorporated into 
the overall landscape design. 
 
The proposed residential use requires four parking spaces, two of which must be covered, one 
for each unit.  The applicant is proposing two simple metal frame carports with roofing material 
to match the main building roof.  The carports are behind the front setback, in front of the 
residential units.   
 
PARKING Required Existing Proposed 
 2 spaces per unit, one of 

which must be covered. 
4 uncovered 
 

2 covered 
2 uncovered 

Total 4 spaces 4 spaces 4 spaces 
  
  

-17-

Item #: 5.A. 4980 Capitola Road staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013     4980 Capitola Road   
 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #13-045 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project approval is to convert an existing 864-square-foot office into two residential 

units: a 203-square-foot studio unit and a 661-square-foot two-bedroom unit at 4980 
Capitola Road. 
 

2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 
approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
3.  The final landscape and irrigation plan shall be submitted with the building permit 

application.  Front yard landscaping shall be installed prior to final building occupancy. 
 
4.  Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 9:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 

a.m. – 4:00 p.m., per city ordinance. 
 
5.  Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development 
Director. 

 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The 
project generally conforms to the development standards of the CR (Commercial/Residential) 
Zoning District.  Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The 
project conforms to the development standards of the CR (Commercial/Residential) Zoning 
District.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the 
character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a)(e) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
This project involves conversion and remodel of an existing office into two residential units in the 
CR (Commercial/Residential) Zoning District.  Section 15303 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts 
the construction of a single-family residence in a residential zone.  
 
  

-18-

Item #: 5.A. 4980 Capitola Road staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013     4980 Capitola Road   
 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
A.  Project Plans 
B.  Draft Minutes Excerpt, May 2, 2013 

 
 
Report Prepared By:  Danielle Uharriet 
    Interim Senior Planner 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\6-6-13\Word\4980 Capitola Road staff report.docx 

-19-

Item #: 5.A. 4980 Capitola Road staff report.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-20-



Skylite

vent

2.

Hip

R
id

ge

Val

Hip Hip

Sk
yl

ite

RBM3=
1 3

/4x
11

 7/
8 L

VL

URBM3=
1 3

/4x
11

 7/
8 

4x
4 

po
st

 to
 

ce
ili

ng
 b

ea
m

2x
10 2x

10

PSL

G
ird

er
 tr

us
s

1
13.

SU
SA

N
 D

EE
 C

U
M

M
IN

S 
Bu

ild
in

g 
D

es
ig

n 
&

 
La

nd
 U

se
 A

na
ly

sis
(8

31
) 

23
9-

25
39

M
ur

ph
y 

Re
sid

en
ce

49
80

 C
ap

ito
la

 R
oa

d
D

at
e:

 12
-2

8-
0

9

D
rb

y:
 S

D
C

Re
v:

  
Ca

pi
to

la
, C

A
 

 

A
PN

: 0
34

-0
41

-0
7 

APN: 034-041-07 

Back (South) Elevation

Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"
 
 

EGEG

17
'-

0
"

Front (North) Elevation

Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"
 
 

EGEG

9'
-8

"

Left (East) Elevation

Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"
 
 

EGEG

Right (West)  Elevation

Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"
 
 

EG

17
'-

0
"

9'
-8

"

EG

Si
te

 P
la

n 
&

 V
ic

in
ity

 M
ap

Property Line  40.00'

Property Line  40.00'

Pr
op

er
ty

 L
in

e 
 10

0
.0

0
'

Pr
op

er
ty

 L
in

e 
 10

0
.0

0
'

(E)Shrubs(E)Shrubs

(E) Ground 
     Cover

(E) Cobblestones

Capitola Road

(E) Parking Area

(E) Plants

(E
) 

Pe
rv

ou
s P

av
er

s

Occupancy:  R-3
Const. type: Wood-framed,
Type VB, Non-sprinklered

Plans are in compliance w/the following:
2010 California Residential Code
2010 California Mech. Code
2010 California Elec. Code
2010 California Energy Code
2010 California Plumbing Code

Remoded (E) Office Space to:
-(N) One Bedroom Studio w/
Kitchen and Bath, plus:
-(N) Two bedroom Unit w/Kitchen, 
Bath and Living Room.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

(E) Covered Porch

(E
) 

Si
de

w
al

k

N Hwy.1  S

Cl
iff

 D
r.

Pr
os

pe
ct

 A
ve

.

Grace St.46
th

 A
ve

.

42
nd

 A
ve

.

41
st

 A
ve

.

42nd A
ve. 45

th
 A

ve
.

Emerald St.

Capitola Road

Bay Ave.

Capitola Ave.

M
on

te
re

y 
A

ve
.

Ca
pi

to
la

 A
ve

.

Monterey Bay 
Marine Sanctuary

Soquel Creek

49
th

 A
ve

.

SITE

(E) Crissy Drain

(E) Water Main
S

W E
N

S
WE

N

SHEET INDEX

A2
A1

Original/Existing & Proposed Floor Plans
Site Plan,Vicinity Map & Elevations

Existing/Proposed Site Plan
Scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

 
A1

(E) Roof To remain 

(E) Roof To remain 

(E) Siding, Roof, Trim and paint to remain
as is.

Any window and wood trim replacements
to be repaired-in-kind and shall match (E)

NOTE:

PGE Meter
100 Amp

(E) Water
Meter

Entry to Proposed
Studio

Entry to Proposed
2 Bedroom Unit

A1

(E) Ground 
     Cover

(E) Ground 
     Cover

(E) Ground 
     Cover

(E
) 

Si
de

w
al

k

(E
) 

Si
de

w
al

k
(E

) 
Sh

ru
bs

 (
ty

p.
)

20
'-

0
"

8'6"x18'0"
 Space

8'6"x18'0"
 Space

9'0"x18'0"
    Space

9'0"x18'0"
    Space

(N) Carport (N) Carport

se
t-

ba
ck

 to
 C

ar
po

rt
s

(E) Side Walk

(E) Structure

(N) Carports

(N) Carports

16

1

3

16

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

33
3

3

(N) Pervious Pavers

3

3

3

2

4

IRIS DOUGLASIANA/PACIFIC IRIS CA Native Iris, many colors available, 
little water after established 1 gal.3

CEONOTHUS "CONCA"/WILD LILAC CA Native groundcover Ceonothus 5 gal.

CARPENTERIA CALIFORNICA/BUSH ANEMONE
CA Native 4' to 6' evergreen shrub, 
white flowers 5 gal.

PHILADELPHUS VIRGINIANA CA Native, glossy green leaves, 
white fragrant flowers 5 gal.

PLANT NAME DESCRIPTION SIZE QTY.

1 1

9

8

2

4

:Indicates Redwood Bark ground cover

-21-

Item
 #: 5.A

. A
ttach

m
en

t_A
.p

d
f



-22-

Item #: 5.A. Attachment_A.pdf



EXCERPT DRAFT MINUTES MAY 2, 2013 
 

 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

 
B. 4980 CAPITOLA ROAD      #13-045      APN:  034-041-07 

Design Permit to convert an existing office use into a duplex in the CR 
Commercial/Residential) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Owner:  Mark Murphy 
Applicant:  Thomas Branagan, filed:  4/5/13 

 
Commissioner Smith recused herself because she owns property close to the project.  
 
Chairperson Routh explained that he pulled the item from the consent agenda because of the lack of 
landscaping as a residential unit. He suggested the commission add a condition to remove two of the 
four open parking spaces in front for landscaping and recommended continuing the item for a 
landscaping plan.   
 
Tom Branagan represented the applicant and confirmed that the current parking plan reflects six 
parking spaces, two of which are covered. He said the property owner would likely agree to remove 
parking for more landscaping. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz suggested a compromise with one space replaced with landscaping. Mr. 
Branagan said he will discuss the possibility with the owner and agreed with commissioners that the 
parking spot on the far right was a likely candidate for removal.  
 
Commissioner Graves said he feels that the four spaces across the front looks like a sea of parking 
and he will want to review how much the landscaping softens the appearance before he could 
promise to support the removal of only one space.  
 
Commissioner Welch asked for the landscaping requirement for the CR (Commercial Residential) 
zone, and Interim Planner Danielle Uharriet responded it is two feet on either side of the drive. She 
also confirmed that unlike the CN district, the CR zoning does not hold residential uses to different 
standards. Commissioner Graves asked for a reference to that difference in the code and when it was 
enacted. 
 
A motion to continue project application #13-045 to June 6, 2013, was made by Commissioner 
Graves and seconded by Commissioner Ortiz. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Graves, Ortiz, and Welch and 
Chairperson Routh. No: None. Abstain: Commissioner Smith. 
  

-23-

Item #: 5.A. Attachment_B.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-24-



 
 

S T A F F   R E P O R T 
 

TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  JUNE 6, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: 305 FANMAR WAY  #13-026  APN:  035-161-14   

Coastal Permit and Design Permit to remodel an existing multi-story single-family 
house, including a first and second story addition in the RM-LM (Multi-Family 
Residence – Low Medium) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
This project requires a Coastal Permit which is not appealable to the California 
Coastal Commission. 
Owner:  Peter Wilk, filed: 2/19/13 
Applicant:  Derek Van Alstine 

 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to remodel the interior of the existing single family residence and 
construct additions on the first floor with a deck addition on the second floor at 305 Fanmar Way 
in the RM-LM (Multiple Family-Low-Medium) zoning district.  The use is consistent with the 
General Plan, Zoning Ordinance and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

STRUCTURAL DATA 
SETBACKS Required Existing Proposed 
Front Yard     
 1st Story 15’ 2' 2’ 
 2nd Story 20’ 2' 24’ 
Rear Yard     
 1st Story 16’ 34'-6" 34'-6" 
 2nd Story 16’ 34'-6" 32’ 
Side Yard     
 1st Story 4’-6”  0' (left) 

17'-3" (right) 
0' (left) 
13'-1 ½" (right) 

 2nd Story 6’-9” 0' (left) 
Varies from 17'-3" 
to 19"-1"½" (right) 

0' (left) 
Deck 17'-1" 
(right) 

HEIGHT  25’  19'-0" 22'-6" 
  

-25-

Item #: 5.B. 305 Fanmar Way 6-6-13 staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013     305 Fanmar Way  
 

 

 

 

FLOOR AREA RATIO Lot Size MAX (55%) Proposed 
(51%) 

 

 3,600 sq. ft 1,980 sq. ft. 1,825 sq. ft  
 

 Habitable Space Garage Decks Total 

First Story 1,009 sq. ft. 210 sq. ft. 0 sq.ft. 1,219 sq. ft. 

Second Story    362 sq. ft.  244 sq. ft.    606 sq ft. 

TOTAL 1,371 sq. ft. 210 sq. ft. 244 sq. ft. 1,825 sq. ft. 

 
PARKING Existing Required Proposed 

 1 covered space 
 

2 off-street spaces, 
one of which must be 
covered 

1 covered space 
1 uncovered space 

Total 1 space 2 spaces 2 spaces 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
On April 4, 2013, the Planning Commission continued the project application and requested the 
applicant install netting to show the outline of the proposed size and height of the additions.  
The following issues and concerns were raised by the Commission (Attachment B): 
 

• Overall mass of the home; 

• Proposed building height; 

• Netting the residence to evaluate the impact of height and mass; 

• Reduced construction hours 
 
The applicant has incorporated the following changes in response to the Commission's issues 
and concerns: 
 

• Reduced the floor area ratio 

• First floor remodel with a 115-square-foot living room, with fireplace; 

• Removed the second floor addition and proposed a 244-square-foot deck and stairs; 

• Reduced the building height from 27'-0" to 22'-6"; 
 
The first floor addition has increased from 71 square feet to 115 square feet, enclosing the 
proposed fireplace within the building elevation.  The floor-area ratio has been reduced from 
1,974 square feet and 55% to 1,825 square feet and 51%. 
 
The second floor addition has been eliminated, and a 244-square-foot deck and stairs are 
proposed.  The proposed deck will be accessed from an existing second floor deck, adjacent to 
the master bedroom. 
 
The proposed maximum building height has been reduced from 27'-0" to a maximum building 
height of 22'-6" at the highest point of the roof, and 25'-0" at the top of the chimney. 
 
The proposed design revisions have eliminated the second floor addition, reducing both the 
height and mass; therefore the applicant has not placed netting on the site. 
 

-26-

Item #: 5.B. 305 Fanmar Way 6-6-13 staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013     305 Fanmar Way  
 

 

 

The Commission discussed revised construction hours to be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m.–6 
p.m., and Saturday 9 a.m.– 4 p.m,  No construction is permitted on Sunday.  Condition #3 has 
been revised to reflect the modified hours. 
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of a single-family residence 
in a residential zone.  This project involves remodel of an existing single-family residence in the 
RM-LM (Multi-Family Low-Medium) Zoning District.  No adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during review of the proposed project  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve application #13-026, subject to the 
following conditions and based upon the following findings: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project approval is to remodel and construct one-story and two-story additions to an 

existing two-story single-family residence at 305 Fanmar Way in the R-1 (Single Family 
Residence) zoning district. 

 
2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 

approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
3.  Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 6:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 

a.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
 
4.  An encroachment permit shall be acquired for any work performed in the right-of-way. 

 
5.  A drainage plan or design shall be submitted with the final building plans, to the satisfaction 

of the Public Works Director. 
 
6.  The final landscape plan shall be submitted with the building permit application and will 

include the specific number of plants of each type and their size, as well as the irrigation 
system to be utilized. Front yard landscaping shall be installed prior to final building 
occupancy. 

 
7.  Prior to final occupancy, the kitchen in the lower level/basement area shall be removed.  All 

electrical and plumbing, including any gas line, shall be removed to the satisfaction of the 
Building Official. 

 
8.  Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development 
Director. 

 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 

the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
 Planning Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 

Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project generally conforms to 

-27-

Item #: 5.B. 305 Fanmar Way 6-6-13 staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013     305 Fanmar Way  
 

 

 

the development standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning District.  
Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
 Planning Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 

Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project generally conforms to 
the development standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning District.  
Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the 
character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
 This project involves the remodel of an existing single-family residence in the R-1 (single 

family residence) Zoning District.  Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts 
alterations to existing single-family residences in a residential zone.   

 
ATTACHMENTS 

A.  Project Plans 
B.  Excerpt of Planning Commission Minutes from April 4, 2013 
C.  Letter from Jack and Patricia Darrough, dated April 21, 2013 
D.  Staff Report from April 4, 2013 

 
Report Prepared By:  Danielle Uharriet 
    Interim Senior Planner      
              
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\6-6-13\Word\305 Fanmar Way staff report.docx 

-28-

Item #: 5.B. 305 Fanmar Way 6-6-13 staff report.pdf



-29-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment A.pdf



-30-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment A.pdf



-31-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment A.pdf



-32-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment A.pdf



-33-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment A.pdf



-34-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment A.pdf



-35-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment A.pdf



-36-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment A.pdf



-37-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment A.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-38-



EXCERPT MINUTES 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

APRIL 4, 2013 

 
 
5.  PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

B.  305 FANMAR WAY  #13-019  APN: 035-161-14 
Coastal Permit and Design Permit to remodel an existing multi-story single-family 
house, including a first and second story addition in the RM-LM (Multi-Family 
Residence – Low Medium) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
This project requires a Coastal Permit which is not appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission. 
Owner:  Peter Wilk, filed: 2/19/13 
Applicant:  Derek Van Alstine 

 
Interim Senior Planner Uharriet presented the staff report. The application includes an interior remodel 
addition of a small living room and a second-story master bedroom suite. Plans would increase the 
roofline from 17 feet to 27 feet. The home currently has an illegal second kitchen in the basement 
area, and the owners have agreed to remove it and enter a deed restriction against such a use. The 
additions will not increase existing setbacks. The commission is allowed to grant permission up to 27 
feet in height.  This is not a variance.  The proposed design uses traditional elements as called for to 
support the height increase. 
 
Architect Derek Van Alstine offered to answer questions about the project. Commissioner Smith 
asked how the 27-foot height was determined since different plans appeared to have different 
numbers. Mr. Van Alstine explained that the 27 feet is from the assumed grade while the new 
illustration reflects the view from Fanmar. He noted the house on this parcel sits further back from 
Cherry than its neighbors, all of which are a full three stories. The height will appear the same from 
the street, but higher from grade line. He stated it is designed to have no change in appearance of 
mass from Fanmar, and from Cherry the appearance of mass will be less than neighboring homes 
because it is set further back. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz commended the completeness of the plans. 
 
Chairman Routh opened the public hearing. 
 
Neighbor Sue Gray shared concerns about the project, saying she would be most affected by the roof 
elevation and feared she would lose much of the view for which she bought her home. She 
acknowledged that she may only have impact on two feet, since 25 feet in height is permitted. 
Commission members located Ms. Gray’s home in relation to the project home on the plans. Ms. Gray 
said it would have been helpful to have the orange netting placed that indicates the new height.  
 
Commissioner Welch said he had visited Fanmar and tried to envision the impact and height. His 
impression was the impact would be minimal.  
 
Ms. Gray also questioned city construction hours that allow work until 9 p.m., which she said were too 
late. Commissioner Ortiz noted later hours were created to benefit owner builders but could perhaps 
be limited. The other commissioners expressed support for shortening hours as a permit condition. 
 

-39-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment B.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – APRIL 4, 2013  2 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\6-6-13\pdf\5.B\Excerpt 4-4-13 Minutes.doc 

Tom Needham of Soquel also addressed the Commission and expressed concern that the house will 
appear larger. He also said that parking along the alley at that location can make access difficult for 
large vehicles such as fire trucks and noted there are parking restrictions in the vicinity. 
 
Commission members and Mr. Van Alstine engaged in a lengthy discussion trying to determine the 
height and changes from various vantage points. They confirmed the new height will be 4’6” higher 
than it currently stands. 
 
Chairman Routh closed the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz recalled participating in the discussion when the ordinance allowing the extra 
height was created, saying the intent was to give people who are remodeling historic homes some 
leeway to get more room in smaller homes as long as they keep the historic integrity of the lines. She 
acknowledged the resulting code is ambiguous, but she felt it applies to homes with some claim to 
historic style and was uncertain how to make findings that define why this project is eligible. 
 
Commissioner Smith expressed concern about the overall mass of the home.  
 
Commissioner Welch said that after visiting the neighborhood and speaking with residents he did not 
have much concern about the mass. He said the project would be a great addition the neighborhood 
and enhance the area. 
 
Commissioner Graves said he while he has concerns about the height, locations back from the coast 
are always in jeopardy of losing their views. He expressed a desire that the height increase could 
perhaps be relocated. He supported reducing construction hours to 6 p.m. on weekdays. He also 
confirmed with staff that the applicant had addressed all the comments and concerns raised by the 
Architecture and Site Committee.  
 
Commissioner Welch said he would also support the reduced hours. 
 
Chairman Routh noted he wants to assure this property owner has the right to improve and enjoy his 
property in the same manner the neighbors have. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz noted the commission has a good precedent to ask this project to be netted. She 
suggested perhaps the application could be continued, which would also give staff time to review 
height data. She asked fellow commissioners and Mr. Van Alstine how he interpreted the ordinance 
allowing the extra height and applied it to this project.  
 
Mr. Van Alstine replied that in his view the ordinance encourages good architectural practice for an 
overall improved, congruous result. He agreed the historic design elements portion could be read to 
mean those of the specific home or more general historic styles found in Capitola. 
 
Commissioner Welch said he interprets the ordinance to allow a remodel to build upon the historical 
design of the house, and that the allowance for extra height is not simply to allow more room for living 
space, but to permit a roofline with character. He said the application in his opinion meets those 
criteria. 
 
Commissioner Smith said the application is in keeping with the previous appearance and style of 
home, but she is not certain that is sufficient to allow the additional height. The fact that the house is 
on a slope and the 27 feet is measured not from street level also plays into her deliberations. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz said she is inclined to continue the application and ask for the netting to better 
gauge the impact on height and mass. Commissioner Smith concurred. 

-40-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment B.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – APRIL 4, 2013  3 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\6-6-13\pdf\5.B\Excerpt 4-4-13 Minutes.doc 

 
Commissioner Welch said he felt he could support the application as it is. 
 
Commissioners Graves also supported asking for netting. 
 
Chairman Routh called the question. 
 
A motion to continue project application #13-019 and request the applicant to install netting to 
the proposed size and height was made by Commissioner Ortiz and seconded by 
Commissioner Graves. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz also asked for a staff determination of the official height before the application 
returned to the commission. Commissioner Graves said he and perhaps other commission members 
would take advantage of Ms. Gray’s offer to view the applicant property from her deck. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Graves, Ortiz, Smith, and 
Chairperson Routh. No: Commissioner Welch. Abstain: None. 
 

-41-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment B.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-42-



-43-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment C.pdf



-44-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment C.pdf



 
 

S T A F F   R E P O R T 
 

TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  APRIL 4, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: 305 FANMAR WAY  #13-026  APN:  035-161-14   

Coastal Permit and Design Permit to remodel an existing multi-story single-family 
house, including a first and second story addition in the RM-LM (Multi-Family 
Residence – Low Medium) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
This project requires a Coastal Permit which is not appealable to the California 
Coastal Commission. 
Owner:  Peter Wilk, filed: 2/19/13 
Applicant:  Derek Van Alstine 

 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to remodel the interior of the existing single family residence and 
construct additions on the first and second floors at 305 Fanmar Way in the RM-LM (Multiple 
Family-Low-Medium) zoning district.  The use is consistent with the General Plan, Zoning 
Ordinance and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

STRUCTURAL DATA 
SETBACKS Required Existing Proposed 
Front Yard     
 1st Story 15’ 2' n/a 
 2nd Story 20’ 2' 24’ 
Rear Yard     
 1st Story 16’ 34'-6" 34'-6" 
 2nd Story 16’ 34'-6" 32’ 
Side Yard     
 1st Story 4’-6”  0' (left) 

17' (right) 
0'” (left) 
17’ (right) 

 2nd Story 6’-9” 0' (left) 
14'-7 ½" (right) 

0' (left) 
13'-1 ½" (right) 

HEIGHT  25’ or 27' may 

be permitted 
with Planning 
Commission 
approval 

17'-0" 27'-0" 

  

-45-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  April 4, 2013     305 Fanmar Way  
 

 

 

 

FLOOR AREA RATIO Lot Size MAX (55%) Proposed 
(55%) 

 

 3,600 sq. ft 1,980 sq. ft. 1,974 sq. ft  
 

 Habitable Space Garage Decks Total 

First Story 959 sq. ft. 210 sq. ft. 0 sq.ft. 1,169 sq. ft. 

Second Story 805 sq ft.  257.50 sq. ft. 1,062.50 sq ft. 

TOTAL 1,764 sq. ft. 210 sq. ft. 257.50 sq. ft. 1,974 sq. ft. 

 
PARKING Existing Required Proposed 

 1 covered space 
 

2 off-street spaces, 
one of which must be 
covered 

1 covered space 
2 uncovered spaces 

Total 1 space 2 spaces 3 spaces 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On March 13, 2013, the Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application.   
 

• Public Works Director Steve Jesberg stated the driveway and parking area should be 
constructed of a porous paving material. 

• City Architect Frank Phanton requested the site plan show the adjacent buildings with 
the window locations.  He supported the proposal and removal of the basement unit.   

• City Landscape Architect Susan Suddjian recommended removal of the juniper in the 
southern corner of the lot and drought tolerant landscaping in the parking areas. 

• Building Inspector Brian VanSon supported removal of the basement kitchen and 
recommended any unpermitted plumbing and electrical be removed.  The basement 
area is considered unconditioned space. 

• Interim Senior Planner Danielle Uharriet requested construction costs to document that 
the project would not exceed the limitations required for improvement to a 
nonconforming structure, numerous corrections to the drawings, adequate room labels, 
removal of the illegal unit, and a landscape plan.   

 
The applicant has addressed the concerns and changes suggested by the Architectural and Site 
Review Committee. 
 
DISCUSSION 
The subject property is a 3,600 square foot lot in the RM-LM (Multiple Family-Low –Medium) 
zoning district, but single family homes on a site in the R-M district shall be governed by the R-1 
district standards. 
 
The existing 1,466 square foot two-story house is proposed to be remodeled, with a 71 square 
foot first floor addition and a 443 second floor addition.  The existing attached 210 square foot 
one car garage will remain as one covered on-site parking space.  The 249 square foot lower 
level/basement area is an illegal unit with a full bath and kitchen.  The bathroom will remain, but 
the kitchen will be removed as part of the proposed project.  A mini bar/convenience area would 
not be allowed without and internal access within the residence.  Finally, secondary dwelling 
units are not permitted in the R-M zoning district.  A condition has been included to require a 

-46-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  April 4, 2013     305 Fanmar Way  
 

 

 

deed restriction be recorded prior to issuance of a building permit, limiting the use of the lower 
level/basement area.  
 
The following is a summary of the proposed improvements: 
 

• First floor 71 square foot living room, with fireplace, addition;  

• Second floor remodel of a 443 square foot master bedroom with window seat, bathroom 
and closet addition; 

• Modifying and raising the existing roof systems approximately 10'-0”; 

• New parking area, garbage and recycling area and upgraded landscaping along Fanmar 
Way. 

 
The proposed improvements upgrade the existing home and site to be more consistent and 
compatible with the scale and mass of the surrounding neighborhood. The addition of a third on-
site uncovered parking space and improved parking area is a benefit to the neighborhood and 
upgrades the front yard area with landscaping.  
 
Nonconforming 
The structure is legal nonconforming due to not meeting current front and first floor side yard 
setbacks.  Per 17.72.070, structural alterations to nonconforming structures are limited to 80% 
of the present fair market value of the structure.  The applicant has provided a construction cost 
breakdown (Attachment B) that demonstrates how the proposed project will not exceed 80% of 
the present fair market value of the structure.  The Building Official has reviewed the 
calculations and determined them to be accurate.  The new additions to the residence meet the 
current R-1 district development standards. 
 
Building Height 
Per Section 17.15.080, the maximum building height is 25', although a 27' height limit may be 
permitted by the planning commission for half-story designs and buildings that use historic 
design elements which meet the applicable side and rear setback standards. 
Building height is defined as the vertical distance measured from the assumed ground surface 
of the building to the highest point of the roof, ridge or parapet wall.  Assumed ground surface is 
defined as a line on each elevation of an exterior wall or vertical surface which connect those 
points were the perimeter of the structure meets the finished grade. 
The existing building height is 17'-0" and the proposed building height is 27'-0".  The proposed 
second floor addition utilizes traditional design elements to create a consistent building line 
along the west elevation and that exceed the required side yard setback standards. 
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of a single-family residence 
in a residential zone.  This project involves remodel of an existing single-family residence in the 
R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning District.  No adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during review of the proposed project  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve application #13-026, subject to the 
following conditions and based upon the following findings: 
 
  

-47-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  April 4, 2013     305 Fanmar Way  
 

 

 

CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project approval is to remodel and construct a one-story and two-story additions to an 

existing two-story single-family residence at 305 Fanmar Way in the R-1 (Single Family 
Residence) zoning district. 

 
2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 

approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
3.  Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 9:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 

a.m. – 4:00 p.m., per city ordinance. 
 
4.  An encroachment permit shall be acquired for any work performed in the right-of-way. 

 
5.  A drainage plan or design shall be submitted with the final building plans, to the satisfaction 

of the Public Works Director. 
 
6.  The final landscape plan shall be submitted with the building permit application and will 

include the specific number of plants of each type and their size, as well as the irrigation 
system to be utilized. Front yard landscaping shall be installed prior to final building 
occupancy. 
 

7.  Prior to issuance of a building permit, the property owner shall enter into and record a deed 
restriction limiting the use of the lower level/basement area. 
 

8.  Prior to final occupancy, the kitchen in the lower level/basement area shall be removed.  All 
electrical and plumbing, including any gas line, shall be removed to the satisfaction of the 
Building Official. 

 
9.  Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development 
Director. 

 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 

the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
 Planning Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 

Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project generally conforms to 
the development standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning District.  
Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
 Planning Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 

Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project generally conforms to 
the development standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning District.  
Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the 
character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

-48-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  April 4, 2013     305 Fanmar Way  
 

 

 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
 This project involves the remodel of an existing single-family residence in the R-1 (single 

family residence) Zoning District.  Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts 
alterations to existing single-family residences in a residential zone.   

 
ATTACHMENTS 

A.  Project Plans 
B.  Construction Cost Breakdown 

 
Report Prepared By:  Danielle Uharriet 
    Interim Senior Planner      
              
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\4-4-13\Word\305 Fanmar Way staff report.docx 

-49-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-50-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-51-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-52-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-53-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-54-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-55-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-56-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-57-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-58-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-59-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-60-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



-61-

Item #: 5.B. Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-62-



 
 

S T A F F   R E P O R T 
 

TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  JUNE 6, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: 1575 38th AVENUE   #13-061  APN: 034-181-17 

Planned Development Rezoning, Conditional Use Permit, and Design Permit to 
demolish a commercial salvage yard (Capitola Freight and Salvage) and 
construct a three-story, 23-unit residential senior housing project in the CN 
(Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Mitigated Negative Declaration 
Property Owner:  Maureen A. Romac and Steve Thomas, filed: 5/11/13 
 

 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing a planned development rezoning at 1575 38th Avenue in the CN 
(Neighborhood Commercial) zoning district.  The project site currently contains a commercial 
salvage yard which is proposed to be removed as part of the project.  The proposal is a three-
story, 23-unit market rate senior housing development on the 31,365 square foot lot (.72 acre). 
 
BACKGROUND 
A preliminary proposal for a four-story, 67-unit senior housing planned development was 
reviewed by the Planning Commission and City Council in the fall of 2011.  Based on the 
comments and direction received from both the Planning Commission and City Council, the 
applicant redesigned the project and submitted a formal Planned Development application.  The 
new proposal is a three-story, 23-unit senior housing planned development. 
 
On September 6, 2012, the formal application was reviewed by the Planning Commission.  The 
Planning Commission made a recommendation to the City Council to deny the project.  As a 
result of this denial, the City became aware that Planned Development applications cannot be 
appealed to the City Council if they receive a denial from the Planning Commission.  The 
Planning Commission's decision was final. 
 
On February 14, 2013, the City Council directed staff to amend the Planned Development 
ordinance to allow for appeals to the City Council when an application has been denied by the 
Planning Commission. 
 
On March 7, 2013, the Planning Commission unanimously recommended that the City Council 
adopt the proposed amendments to the Planned Development Ordinance.  On March 28, 2013, 
the City Council approved the first reading of the Zoning Ordinance amendment and on April 11, 
2013, the City Council approved the second reading of the Zoning Ordinance amendment.  On 
May 11, 2013, the ordinance amendment became effective in areas outside the Coastal Zone.  
As the 38th Avenue senior housing project is not in the Coastal Zone, the applicant has re-
submitted an application.  Following the September 6, 2012 Planning Commission meeting, the 

-63-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013    1575 38
th
 Avenue 2 

 

 

applicant met with city staff to address the following issues and concerns raised by the 
Commission (Attachment D): 
 

• The project is not complimentary nor consistent with the scale of adjacent commercial 
and residential uses; 

• Pursuant to the Planned Development (PD) ordinance, it was expressed that the 
benefits of the project to the community through the design, use, or special amenities did 
not justify the proposed exceptions to the underlying CN district standards; 

• The findings to approve a PD under four acres could not be made; 

• Concern with the second floor decks as they eliminate privacy to the adjacent properties; 

• Lack of landscaping; and  

• Concern with the mass, scale and density of the project. 
 

The applicant incorporated the following changes in response to the Commission's concerns: 
 

• Reduction in the average height from 42’ to 39’. 

• Redesign of the front of the building, eliminating the front porte-cochere and a driveway, 
improving the street appeal of the project by setting the structure back further, increasing 
the landscaping, and providing a rooftop garden area and an outdoor patio for residents 
off of the private eating area. 

• Elimination of the outdoor deck areas on the rear (west) elevation to address privacy 
concerns of the residents behind the project. 

• Redesign of the rear portion of the structure to reduce the height, scale, and mass 
adjacent to the residential neighbors.  The new design relocates the elevator tower 
toward the center of the building and steps the structure away from the rear property 
line. 

 
The design plans, building materials and site landscaping have addressed previous review and 
comments from the Architectural and Site Review Committee.  The applicant has provided a 
progression of the building design since the original preliminary PD design (Attachment B).  The 
applicant has addressed many of the issues raised during the previous reviews by significantly 
reducing the density, height, mass, and scale of the building, as well as addressing access, 
parking, privacy, landscaping and architectural design. 
 
DISCUSSION 
The 31,365 square foot (.72 acre) project site is located on 38th Avenue between Capitola Road 
and Brommer Street.  The relatively flat site currently contains a commercial salvage yard which 
is proposed to be removed as part of the project. Abutting the west property line are single-
family homes located in the County, while to the south of the property is a self storage facility.  
Across the street is the King’s Plaza shopping center, while to the north is a combination of 
office and commercial properties.   

-64-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013    1575 38
th
 Avenue 3 

 

 

 
1575 38th Avenue – APN 034-181-17 

 
The project consists of demolition of the existing salvage yard and its accessory buildings and 
construction of a 23-unit rental (market rate), unassisted senior housing development. The 
project applications to be considered by the City include: Planned Development Rezoning, 
Conditional Use Permit, and Design Permit for the demolition and construction. 
 
The proposed project will be contained within an approximate 65,000 square foot, three-story 
building.  The contemporary Mediterranean architecture incorporates a mix of smooth stucco 
finish, cast stone balustrades, wrought iron railings, and barrel tile roof.  The proposed housing 
units will be located on the second and third floors. The planned units include 14 studio units 
and nine one-bedroom units (Attachment A). 
 
The ground level includes an enclosed 35-space enclosed parking garage, a main entry lobby, a 
commercial kitchen, and a private restaurant with an outdoor dining area for residents. The 
restaurant area, with an approximately 600 square foot kitchen, will offer meals three times a 
day.  There is shared common area throughout the development, with a 480-square foot pool 
with spa and cabana proposed on the third floor.   A community rooftop deck has also been 
incorporated. 
 
In addition to a restaurant for residents and guests, a number of amenities will be provided for 
the residents, including a swimming pool, bocci ball, hobbies, exercise, yoga, massage, book 
club, classes, educational speakers, wifi, and a shuttle service that will provide supplemental 
transportation for residents. 
 
General Plan 
The General Plan Designation for the site is C-LC (Commercial – Shopping Local).  The 
designation is described as “Commercial areas that serve local neighborhoods.”  The Housing 
Element lists the site as a Mixed-Use Residential/Commercial opportunity site.  Although the 
Housing Element states that a net of 17 units are possible on the site, it is possible to develop 
more.  The CN zoning district does not have a specific maximum lot coverage or minimum lot 
area per unit.  Therefore, density is indirectly controlled by the need to meet parking 
requirements. 

-65-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013    1575 38
th
 Avenue 4 

 

 

 
Neighborhood Commercial (CN) Zoning District 
The parcel is currently zoned CN (Neighborhood Commercial).  The purpose of the existing CN 
district is “to accommodate, at convenient locations, those limited commercial uses which are 
necessary to meet frequently occurring basic shopping and service needs of persons residing in 
adjacent areas and to implement the harmonious intermingling of pedestrian, commercial and 
residential activities. The style and scale of development should be consistent with the foregoing 
and the intensity of uses should have low impact on the neighborhood.” 
 
This is a neighborhood commercial district that permits single family residential and 
residential/commercial mixed use development as principal permitted uses.  Multifamily 
residential is permitted with a conditional use permit.  Required setbacks are 15 feet at the front, 
10% of lot width for the first floor side, and 15% of the lot width for the second floor side yards. 
The rear set back requirement is 10 feet for commercial developments and 20% of lot depth for 
residential projects. 
 
Planned Development Rezoning Process 
As proposed, the development does not meet the current CN zoning district development 
standards.  Therefore a Planned Development (PD) application has been submitted.  Section 
17.39.010 of the Zoning Ordinance states that the purpose of the Planned Development District 
is “to encourage and provide a means for effectuating desirable development, redevelopment, 
rehabilitation, and conservation in the city, which features variation in siting, mixed land uses, 
and/or varied dwelling types.  The amenities and compatibility of PD districts is to be insured 
through adoption of a general development plan, showing proper orientation, desirable design 
character and compatible land uses.”  This would allow some flexibility to the development 
standards in order to achieve the desired result. 
 
Requested Exceptions 
The PD district provides that standards for area, coverage, density, yard requirements, parking 
and screening for PD district uses shall be governed by the standards of the zoning district most 
similar in nature and function to the proposed PD district use as determined by the Planning 
Commission.  Therefore, CN zoning is most similar to the proposed PD district use.  Per the PD 
ordinance, exceptions to standards are allowed when it is found that the exceptions “encourage 
a desirable living environment and are warranted in terms of the total proposed development or 
unit thereof.”  The following is a summary of the CN exceptions requested as part of the PD 
rezoning. 
 

Development Standards CN District Proposed 
 

Front Yard Setback 
First Floor 

Second Floor 
Third Floor 

 
15’-0" landscape strip 
15'-0" 
n/a 

 
14 + 9' sidewalk 
14 + 9' sidewalk 
34' + 9' sidewalk 

Rear Yard Setback(Residential) 
First Floor 

Second Floor 
Third Floor 

 
48’-0"  
48’-0" 
n/a 

 
15’-0" 
23'-0" 
30'-0" 

Rear Yard Setback (Commercial) 
First Floor 

 
 

Second Floor 
Third Floor 

 
10’-0" including 10' landscape strip 

and solid masonry wall 
 
10'-0" 
n/a 

 
 
15’-0" including 10' landscape 

strip and solid masonry wall 
23'-0" 
30'-0" 

-66-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013    1575 38
th
 Avenue 5 

 

 

Side Yard Setback 
South property boundary 

First Floor 
 

Second Floor 
 

Third Floor 

 
 
13’-0" 
 
19'-7" 
 
n/a 

 
 
0’-0" dining/kitchen area  

6’-0" building 
0’-0" pool 

6’-0" decks & 15'-0" 
0’-0" pool 

15’-0" decks & 21'-0" units  
Side Yard Setback 

North property boundary 

First Floor 
 

Second Floor 
 

Third Floor 
 

 
 
13'-0" 
 
19’-7” 
 
n/a 

 
 
7’-0" building 

 
7’-0" decks & 16'-0" units  

 

16’-0" decks & 23'-0" units 

Maximum Height 27’ 39’ average 
48' top of elevator tower 

 
Traffic/Circulation 
A Forecast Trip Generation, On-Site Parking Analysis and Pedestrian Warrant Analysis report 
was prepared by RBF consulting (Attachment E) to evaluate the potential impacts of the project 
in accordance with the standards set forth by the City of Capitola.  The proposed project is 
estimated to result in a net increase of 39 daily weekday trips based on trip generation rates for 
senior housing and warehouse uses published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers. 
Traffic from the existing salvage yard was deducted from the total trips generated by the 
proposed senior housing project. The proposed project is estimated to result in a slight 
decrease in AM and PM peak trips compared to the existing use. The addition of approximately 
40 project trips to study intersections throughout the day would not have a noticeable effect. The 
project traffic would result in a less-than-significant impact, and no mitigation measures are 
required. 
 
For vehicular circulation, site access for the proposed project is planned via one 
inbound/outbound driveway located along 38th Avenue.  The proposed driveway is designed to 
be offset from two existing driveways serving the retail center across 38th Avenue from the 
project site. The driveway design will not result in increased hazards or inadequate emergency 
access. 
 
In regards to pedestrian circulation, a 9’ sidewalk is proposed along the street frontage of the 
property.  While not currently proposed as part of the project, the RBF report evaluated the 
potential for the installation of an unsignalized mid-block pedestrian crossing to connect the 
project to the King’s Plaza commercial property.  The analysis presents that the pedestrian 
volume does not warrant a crossing.  However, installation of the crosswalk is at the discretion 
of the City. 
 
Parking 
The Forecast Trip Generation, On-Site Parking Analysis and Pedestrian Warrant Analysis report 
prepared by RBF consulting reviewed parking for the proposed use.  The City of Capitola 
Municipal Code does not specifically include a parking requirement for a senior housing type 
use.  The closest comparison would likely be the requirement for multiple-family residential, 
such as apartments and condominiums, which is 2.5 spaces per unit.  Based on this 
requirement, a total of 58 spaces would be required. 
 

-67-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013    1575 38
th
 Avenue 6 

 

 

Considering the fact that this is a senior complex, it is anticipated that the parking demand will 
be less than a standard market rate apartment complex.  The RBF analysis provided an 
evaluation of the number of on-site parking spaces required for the proposed project utilizing 
guidelines specifically designed for senior housing land use as set forth by jurisdictions in the 
vicinity as well as information contained in other published guidelines used as industry standard.   
 

 
Guideline Source 

 
Senior Housing Parking 

Requirement 
Per Guideline 

 
Project 

Size 

On-Site 
Parking 
Spaces 

Required 

On-Site 
Parking 
Spaces 
Planned 

Adequate 
Parking 
Spaces 
Planned 

 
City of Live Oak Municipal Code 

 
0.6 Parking Spaces Per Unit 

 
23 du 

 
14 

 

36 
2
 

 
Yes 

 
City of Santa Cruz Municipal Code 

 
1 Parking Space for each 3 Dwelling Units 

 
8 

 
Yes 

 
City of Seaside Municipal Code 

1 Parking Space for Each Unit With Half the 
Spaces  Covered  Plus  1  Guest  Parking 
Space for Each 10 Units 

 
26 

 
Yes 

 
ITE Parking Generation, 3rd Edition 

 

1.4 Parking Spaces per dwelling unit
1
 

 
33 

 
Yes 

Notes: du = Dwelling Unit 
1 = Observed peak parking demand of 50%. 
2 = Parking supply is based on Villa Capitola Unassisted Senior Housing Site Plan (Nancy Huyck, 05/17/2012) 

 
Based on the above table, the range of parking requirements for a similar project would vary 
from 8 to 33 parking spaces.  With a total of 35 spaces provided, the project will provide an 
adequate number of parking spaces to serve the proposed senior housing use. 
 
Landscaping 
With the proposed structure covering the majority of the site, there are limited opportunities for 
landscaping.  Along the rear property line, a row of nine 30” box California Bay trees and six 24" 
box Arbutus Marina trees will be planted to provide screening.  On the north side of the building, 
a mix of olive trees and camellia plants are proposed, in addition to a continuous walkway that 
wraps around to the rear of the property.  The streetscape will incorporate a mix of olive trees, 
star jasmine and a water fountain complimenting the Mediterranean architecture.  Potted plants 
will also be introduced throughout the project on the multiple decks and pool area.  There are 
several existing redwood trees along the adjacent property boundary to the south. 
 
Lighting 
Overall site lighting will be directed downward and shielded from adjacent properties.  The 
guidelines also require light to be contained on the property.  An exterior lighting plan which 
delineates the type, height and location of the proposed lighting will be required as part of the 
building submittal. 
 
Shadow/Light 
The building design steps back at the rear of the site allowing for adequate light and solar 
access to the adjacent residential properties.  Except for a limited period of time in the winter, 
the project will have a minimal solar access impact on the adjacent residential properties to the 
west.   
  
Walls/Fencing 
A 6’-8” high concrete block wall (measured from project finished grade) is proposed along the 
western property line adjacent to residential properties.  In addition, a 6’-8” wrought iron fence is 
proposed along the north property line. 

-68-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013    1575 38
th
 Avenue 7 

 

 

 
Public Improvements 
New curb, gutter and sidewalk will be installed along the 38th Avenue frontage.  The sidewalk 
will have a 9’ width, with tree wells incorporated for olive trees.  All utilities will be required to be 
undergrounded. 
 
Environmental Review  
The Initial Study was prepared and circulated per CEQA requirements, and a Mitigated 
Negative Declaration prepared for adoption based on the determination that the project will not 
have a significant effect on the environment (Attachment C).  There are no changes in the 
current application that would result in a significant effect on the environment.  Only one 
mitigation measure has been included regarding noise, requiring preparation of an acoustical 
study with the building permit submittal and the requirement that the building plans incorporate 
any recommended building or window design measures, if needed to achieve required indoor 
noise levels.  All other potentially significant impacts were deemed less than significant based 
on the current project design, preliminary studies, and conditions of approval relating to the 
building code and city regulations. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend adoption of the Mitigated 
Negative Declaration, and recommend approval of application #13-061 to the City Council, 
subject to the following conditions and based on the following findings: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project approval is for a Planned Development Rezoning, Conditional Use Permit, and 

Design Permit to demolish a commercial salvage yard (Capitola Freight and Salvage) and 
construct a three-story, 23-unit residential senior housing project in the CN (Neighborhood 
Commercial) Zoning District. 
 

2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the approved design must 
be approved by the Planning Commission.  Similarly, any significant change to the use itself, 
or the site, must be approved by the Planning Commission.  

 
3.  Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. 
 
4.  Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 9:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 

a.m. – 4:00 p.m., per city ordinance. 
 
5.  Air-conditioning equipment and other roof top equipment shall be screened from view and 

fall within the allowable city permitted decibel levels. 
 
6.  Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to assure compliance with the City 

of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.  Any appropriate fees shall be paid 
prior to building permit issuance. 

 
7.  A drainage plan or design shall be submitted with the final building plans, to the satisfaction 

of the Public Works Director and approved by Santa Cruz County’s Zone 5 Drainage District. 
 
8.  The final landscape plan shall be submitted with the building permit application and will 

include the specific number of plants of each type and their size, as well as the irrigation 

-69-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013    1575 38
th
 Avenue 8 

 

 

system to be utilized. Irrigation and landscaping shall be installed prior to final building 
occupancy. 

 
9.  An erosion control plan shall be approved and in place prior to grading and construction on 

site. 
 
10. Prior to Certificates of Occupancy being issued, the project Developer shall be responsible 

for installing all required frontage improvements including curb, gutter, and sidewalk, along 
38th Avenue for the length of the property frontage.  All sidewalks are to meet the standards 
for ADA accessibility. 

 
11. All lighting shall be shielded and directed on to subject property, away from adjacent 

residential properties.  Lighting intensity shall be reviewed and approved by staff prior to 
final occupancy and shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon receipt of a 
complaint. 

 
12. No roof equipment is to be visible to the general public.  Any necessary roof screening is to 

match the color of the building as closely as possible.  Plans for any necessary screening 
shall be submitted to the Community Development Department prior to, or in conjunction 
with, building permit submittal.  

 
13. A 6’-8” high concrete block wall (measured from project finished grade) shall be constructed 

along the western property line adjacent to residential properties.   
 
14. The applicant shall obtain an encroachment permit, from the Director of Public Works, prior 

to any work in the public right of way. 
 
15. The utilities shall be underground to the nearest utility pole in accordance with PG&E and 

Public Works Department requirements.  A note shall be placed on the final building plans 
indicating this requirement. Underground utility vaults shall be located in a paved surface 
area outside of the landscaped area. 

 
16. The applicant shall comply with all requirements of the Santa Cruz City Water Department 

regarding landscape irrigation and/or water fixture requirements, as well as any 
infrastructure improvements.  Final building plans shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Department prior to issuance of building permits. 

  
17. The applicant shall implement “Best Management” construction practices to control dust and 

PM10 emissions during grading and site development. The MBUAPCD identifies the 
following construction practices to control dust: 

o Water all active construction areas at least twice daily; 
o Prohibit all grading activities during periods of high winds (over 15 mph); 
o Cover all trucks hauling dirt, sand or loose materials. 
o Cover or water stockpiles of debris, soil and other materials which can become 

windblown; 
o Install wheel washers at the entrance to construction sites for all existing trucks; 
o Sweep streets if visible soil material is carried out from the construction site; 
o Apply chemical soil stabilizers on inactive construction sites; 
o Plant vegetative ground cover in disturbed areas as soon as possible. 

 
18. The applicant shall submit a construction plan for approval prior to building permit issuance.  

The plan shall include, but not be limited to, identifying construction hours, access to the 
site, contractor parking locations, office trailer locations, material storage, etc. 

-70-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013    1575 38
th
 Avenue 9 

 

 

 
19. If archaeological resources or human remains are accidentally discovered during 

construction, work shall be halted within 50 meters (150 feet) of the find until it can be 
evaluated by a qualified professional archaeologist. If the find is determined to be significant, 
appropriate mitigation measures shall be formulated and implemented. Disturbance shall not 
resume until the significance of the archaeological resources is determined and appropriate 
mitigations to preserve the resource on the site are established. If human remains are 
encountered during construction or any other phase of development, work in the area of 
discovery must be halted, the Santa Cruz County coroner notified, and the provisions of 
Public Resources Code 5097.98-99, Health and Safety Code 7050.5 carried out. If the 
remains are determined to be Native American, the Native American Heritage Commission 
(NAHC) shall be notified within 24 hours as required by Public Resources Code 5097. 
 

20. The applicant shall meet or exceed the California Green Building Code and Capitola Green 
Building Program. 
 

21. Mitigation Measure 1:  The applicant shall prepare an acoustical study with the building 
permit submittal.  The building plans shall incorporate any recommended building or window 
design measures, if needed to achieve required indoor noise levels. 

 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 
 

Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have reviewed the project and determined that the project, subject to 
the conditions of approval with the Planned Development Zoning designation, is consistent 
with the purposes of the Planned Development District.  Conditions of approval have been 
included to carry out the objectives of the PD district and General Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 

Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have reviewed the project and determined that the proposed senior 
housing use will maintain the character and integrity of the area, implementing the 
harmonious intermingling of pedestrian, commercial and residential activities. Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and integrity 
of the neighborhood. 

 
C. A Mitigated Negative Declaration has been prepared for this project based upon the 

completion of an Initial Study which identified that the project will not have a 
significant effect on the environment. 

 
The Initial Study was prepared and circulated per CEQA requirements, and a Mitigated 
Negative Declaration prepared for adoption based on the determination that the project will 
not have a significant effect on the environment.   

 
  

-71-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  June 6, 2013    1575 38
th
 Avenue 10 

 

 

D. Planned Development Findings (Section 17.39.050) 
 

• The proposed PD district, and the development associated with it, can be substantially 
completed within two years of the establishment of the district.  The plans for the 
development and environmental review have been completed, demonstrating a 
readiness to move forward with the project. 

 

• The proposed market rate senior housing development will not be detrimental to present 
and potential surrounding uses, but will have a beneficial effect which could not be 
achieved under other zoning districts by providing much needed housing to a growing 
population of seniors in a central location adjacent to a mix of commercial uses, 
including banks, a movie theatre, several restaurants, drug store, and grocery stores, as 
well as the Capitola Mall.   

 

• The requested exceptions to development standards are warranted by the design and 
amenities incorporated into the development which focuses on providing an independent 
senior living experience for a growing population of seniors, maximizing the use of this 
relatively unconstrained and centrally located site, already identified for infill 
development.   

 

• The PD district and general development plan are compatible with the general plan and 
the most recently adopted Housing Element. 
1)  The site is located in a central location close to all services, and alternative 

transportation. 
2)  The site is unconstrained with regard to biotic or other natural resources and 

therefore could be developed in the manner proposed without having significant 
impacts on trees, streams, wildlife, archaeological or historic resources, etc. 

3)   The proposed development plan is located adjacent to commercial uses along 41st 
Avenue, and is consistent with economic and housing goals for the City which 
seeks to provide a range of housing types.   

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A.  Project Plans 
B.  Project Design Progression 
C.  Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration 
D.  Planning Commission Minutes from September 6, 2012 
E.  Forecast Trip Generation, On-Site Parking Analysis and Pedestrian Warrant Analysis 

prepared by RBF Consulting, dated June 8, 2012 
F.  Letter from Steve Thomas and Maureen Romac, dated May 22, 2013 
G.  Petition submitted May 22, 2013 
H.  Letter from George Ow Jr. dated January 14, 2013 
I.  Letter from Kim Frey, dated January 15, 2013 

 
 
Report Prepared By: Danielle Uharriet 
 Interim Senior Planner 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\6-6-13\Word\1575 38th Avenue PC stf rpt.docx    
                

-72-

Item #: 5.C. 1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf



-73-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-74-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-75-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-76-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-77-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-78-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-79-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-80-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-81-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-82-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-83-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-84-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-85-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_A.pdf



-86-

Item
 #: 5.C

. A
ttach

m
en

t_A
.p

d
f



-87-

Item
 #: 5.C

. A
ttach

m
en

t_A
.p

d
f



-88-

Item
 #: 5.C

. A
ttach

m
en

t_A
.p

d
f



-89-

Item
 #: 5.C

. A
ttach

m
en

t_A
.p

d
f



-90-

Item
 #: 5.C

. A
ttach

m
en

t_A
.p

d
f



 Recommendations/
 Direction from Council       �umbnail Elevation Corrective Actions Taken           Proposed Building

                Specifications

SUBMISSION  #1  
Villa Roma         
(Daryl Fazekas Architect)

MAY 20, 2011
Four Story
67 Units
60 Car Parking
Setbacks:    
-East Front  10’-0” 
-North Side    5’-0”
-West Rear   10’-0”
-South Side    5’-0”

   Area Calculations
Including Exterior Balconies
-Fourth Floor  21,037 sf  
-�ird Floor      25,320 sf
-2nd Floor         26,040 sf
-Garage                26,040 sf
TOTAL AREA: 98,437 sf
Height: 46 Feet Average.

Separate Entry and Exit from Garage with front Valet Parking.
Total Landscape Area:      4,280 sf    (14% of  Site.) 

October 3, 2011

September 6, 2012

 

Area Calculations
Including Exterior Balconies  

�ird Floor      20,574 sf
 2nd Floor         23,628 sf
 Garage               23,628 sf

�ree Story
23 Units
36 Car Parking
Setbacks:    
 -East Front  5’-0”
        to allow for 9’ sidewalk
 -North Side    6’-10”
 -West Rear   15’-0”
 -South Side 2 inches with two 
areas of cutouts totaling 350 sf

SUBMISSION  #2  
Villa Capitola         
(Nancy Huyck Architect)

SUBMISSION  #3                    Villa Capitola       
(Nancy Huyck Architect)

SUBMISSION  #4                    Villa Capitola       
(Nancy Huyck Architect)

Reduced Height Average by 3 feet
Reduced Total Building Area by 2,375 sf.
Restructured Parking Garage Providing for Single 
Ingress/ Egress. (Allowing an additional 2090 sf. land-
scaping fronting 38th Ave. with bistro seating.
Rear Balconies facing bulb avenue residents eliminated.
Two-44 ft. Towers Facing Bulb Ave Residents to the 
Rear Eliminated.
Increased Setback to 23’ - 0”
 

                

   

TOTAL AREA: 67,830 sf      
  Height: 42’  Average.

Separate Entry and Exit from Garage w/ front Valet Parking.
Total Landscape Area:   4,967 sf.   (16% of Site.)
Rear Towers Located at Setback Lines.
Balconies Provided for each Rear Unit.

�ree Story
57 Units         
60 Car Parking   
Setbacks:    
 -East Front  -’--”       
 -North Side    -’--”
 -West Rear   -’--”
 -South Side -’--”

  

Separate Entry and Exit from Garage.
Total Landscape Area: -,---- sf    (--% of  Site.) 

Reduce Mass
Reduce Scale
Reduce Height

    Traffic/parking study required
    Comprehensive Environmental Impact Study                    

Required
     Increase Articulation providing 2nd and 3rd     

story balconies.
     Create Rooftop Garden Area
     Recomended Skylight to Illuminate Interior  

Common Areas
      

Reduce Mass
Reduce Scale
Reduce Height

Architectural and Site Review Board Endorses Project  
(See comments Item # 6.c Staff report P.. 2 & 3)

   Area Calculations
Including Exterior Balconies 
-�ird Floor        23,812 sf
-2nd Floor           25,220 sf
-Garage                26,712 sf
TOTAL AREA:   75,744 sf
Height: 45 Feet Average.

Not Applicable

Reduced Mass
Reduced Scale
Reduced Height by 1 ft.

Reduced Mass                  
Reduced Scale
Reduced Height by 3 ft
Reduced Units to 23
Increased Setbacks
Parking/Traffic Study submitted. 
(See 6.c Attachment D, highlighted areas)
C.E.Q.A. Review Process Completed.
Mitigated Negative Declaration Prepared.

    Created Rooftop Garden Area
    Created Skylight to Illuminate Interior  Common Areas

Total Landscape Area:  7,075 sf.   (23% of Site.)

�ree Story
23 Units
35 Car Parking
Setbacks:    
 -East Front  23’-0”
       includes 9’ sidewalk
 -North Side    6’-10”
 -West Rear   15’-0”
 -South Side (Storage Bldg) 
Landscape area 813 sf

Area Calculations
Including Exterior Balconies  

�ird Floor       19,805 sf
 2nd Floor         22,272 sf
 Garage               23,378 sf

TOTAL AREA: 65,455 sf      
  Height: 39’  Average.

Staff Recommends adoption of Mitigated Negative 
Declaration and Approval of Project.
 
Planning Commission Rejects City Recommendations
and all submitted required data declaring:

           Inconsistency with existing neigborhood            Insufficient percentage of Landscaping
           Insufficient setbacks to the South (Storage Building)             Insufficient Setbacks to the East (38th Ave)
     Privacy issues with 2nd and 3rd story balconies facing 

 Residents on Bulb Ave. 

-91-

Item
 #: 5.C

. A
ttach

m
en

t_B
.p

d
f



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-92-



-93-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-94-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-95-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-96-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-97-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-98-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-99-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-100-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-101-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-102-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-103-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-104-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-105-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-106-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-107-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-108-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-109-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-110-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-111-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-112-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-113-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-114-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-115-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-116-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-117-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-118-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-119-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-120-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-121-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-122-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-123-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-124-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-125-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-126-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-127-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-128-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-129-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-130-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-131-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-132-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-133-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-134-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-135-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-136-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-137-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-138-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-139-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-140-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-141-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-142-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-143-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



-144-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_C.pdf



EXCERPT PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES OF SEPTEMBER 6, 2013 

 
6. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

 
C. 1575 38TH AVENUE #12-028 APN: 034-181-17 

Planned Development Rezoning, Conditional Use Permit, and Design Permit to demolish a 
commercial salvage yard (Capitola Freight and Salvage) and construct a three-story, 23-unit 
residential senior housing project in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Mitigated Negative Declaration 
Property Owner:  Maureen A. Romac, filed 3/2/12 
Representative:  Steve Thomas 

 
Commissioner Newman recused himself as he has an interest in property within 300 feet of the 
subject property application. 
 
Senior Planner Bane presented the staff report. 
 
Chairperson Graves acknowledged receipt of a letter from County Supervisor John Leopold’s office.   
 
Commissioner Smith clarified the concrete wall shown on the current plans, is 6’-8” high.  She asked 
staff to highlight the changes in the current proposal from the preliminary review plans.  She noted 
that the City Council had reviewed and commented on a three story, 57 unit proposal, and this is a 
three story 23 unit project. 
 
Senior Planner Bane responded that the current plans are almost identical to the preliminary review 
plans. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz questioned the General Plan comments in the second to last paragraph on page 
70 of the agenda packet.  She asked if this is language from the current General Plan and will it carry 
forward into the next General Plan. 
 
Consultant Susan Westman responded that the current Housing Element identified this property as a 
possible low income housing site.  The next Housing Element will require new sites to be identified for 
low income units. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Maureen Romac, property owner/applicant, spoke in support in application.  She stated that they have 
worked with the neighbors to design this project and will continue to listen to neighborhood and city 
concerns. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz asked if there is an age requirement, if the residents buy a meal plan; is there 
more than one shuttle bus; how many employees are there; what is the range of units offered to 
residents in this project? 
 
Maureen Romac responded that the minimum age is 55 years of age; residents will be purchasing a 
meal plan as part of the tenancy agreement; there will be one shuttle bus; there will be four 
employees; there are studio units, one-bedroom units and two-bedroom units. 
 
Rick De La Cruz, spoke in support of the application. 
 

-145-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_D.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 6, 2012   
 

P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\6-6-13\Word\Attachment E.doc 

 

  

  
  

  

  

  

Mark Davidson, spoke with concerns regarding the project.  He requested clarification about the 
number of units specified in the staff report on page 4, General Plan, and the zoning change process.  
He requested a copy of the shading plan/shadow study. 
 
Chairperson Graves explained the planned development process.   He stated the staff would provide 
the shading plan/shadow study. 
 
Don Mosegaard, representing three neighbors along the rear property boundary, spoke with concerns 
regarding the project.  He submitted a handout of comments. 
 
Kim Fry, spoke with concerns about the project height, setbacks, drainage issues, and loss of privacy 
and solar access.  She requested construction hours be limited to 8:00 a.m.-6:00 p.m. 
 
Tatiana Teeuwissc, spoke with concerns about the project height, loss of privacy and solar access, 
and noise during construction and the future use of the property. 
 
Teressa Stolroff, spoke with concerns about the project and concurred with the prior speakers.  She 
stated that the new plan reduced the number of units, but not the mass of the building.  The elevation 
along the Bulb Avenue properties is a very straight wall with no articulation. 
 
Steve Thomas, property owner, acknowledged the public comments. 
 
Richard Haack, architect's representative, clarified the rear yard setback could be 10 feet, but the 
planned development permit allows for reduced setbacks.  
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
Commissioner Routh stated the following:  Below are the reasons I enumerated as to why the 
Planning Commission should not support this application and the commissioners agreed.  
 
I stated the use is appropriate for the site but does not warrant all the exceptions being made to the 
zoning ordinance. 
 
To quote the purpose of the CN Zone, "The purpose of the CN district is to accommodate, at convenient 
locations, those limited commercial uses which are necessary to meet frequently occurring basic 
shopping and service needs of people residing in adjacent areas and to implement the harmonious 
intermingling of pedestrian, commercial, and residential activities."  
 
Here's the important part:  "The style and scale of development should be consistent with the foregoing 
and the intensity of uses should have a low impact on the neighborhood".  
 
The two important words here are "scale" and "consistent". This project is certainly not complimentary 
nor consistent to the scale of adjacent commercial and residential uses.  
 
Planned Development standards and requirements state that "standards for area, coverage, density, 
yard requirements, parking and screening for PD district uses shall be governed by the standards of the 
residential, commercial, or industrial zoning district most similar in nature to the proposed PD district 
use."  For this application, that would be the CN district standards and requirements.  
 
The development standards and requirements for the CN district require a 27' height limit, (the 
proposed structure is 42' high), side yard setbacks of 10% for the first floor (the proposed development 
has 0' and 6'10" setbacks), and 15% for the second floor (the proposed structure has 0' and 
6'10"setbacks), 15' front setback (the proposal is for 0' setback) and a minimum of 10' rear yard for 

-146-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_D.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 6, 2012   
 

P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\6-6-13\Word\Attachment E.doc 

 

  

  
  

  

  

  

  

commercial uses and greater for residential uses (the proposed development has 15' rear yard 
setback).  
 
The zoning ordinance does allow exceptions, but in order to grant these kind of exceptions there must 
be overwhelming benefits provided to the community through design, use, or special amenities. The 
benefits are not so overwhelming that we should set aside all of the CN district requirements and 
standards.  Keep in mind also, this application is not even for a principal permitted use, but a conditional 
use.  
 
In addition, the landscaping requirement in the CN zone requires 5% of the lot to be landscaped. This 
proposal has a few potted plants in the front, and minimal landscaping on the rear and north sides.  On 
the south side the applicant is claiming the landscaping on the adjacent storage facility as if it were part 
of this project. while it may adequately screen the south side, the applicant has no control over the 
adjacent property and redwood trees.  
 
Nothing in this proposal conforms to any of the development standards required in the CN zone.  In 
fact, it does not conform to any standards in any zone.  
 
PD district standards and requirements also state no PD district shall include less than 4 acres (this 
proposal is .72 acres, 31,385 sq. ft.) unless certain findings are made; that the land is suitable as a PD 
district by virtue of its unique historical character (nothing historical about a used building supply lot), 
topography (nothing unique about a flat lot), land use (nothing special or unique about a large multi-
family residential structure), or landscaping (no unique landscaping currently exists and none included 
in the proposal).  It is impossible to make any of these findings.  
 
In this case, the PD application simply is an end run around the requirements set forth in our zoning 
ordinance.  It is a blatant attempt to squeeze more units, with inadequate setbacks and landscaping, at a 
height not in scale with the adjacent neighborhoods.  
  
The density of this project is 1 unit for every 1365 sq. ft.   The last time this community allowed a project 
of similar density was when the condominiums along Park Ave were approved way back in 1970. and 
the next election after those were approved a new council eliminated the zoning designation (RM-H) 
that supported that density and it has remained that way ever since, through several general plan 
updates and zoning ordinance revisions.  The community has repeatedly spoken loudly, over several 
years and general plan and zoning updates, that this high zoning density is not supported in our 
community.  
 
Approving this application, which meets no current development standards in the city, jeopardizes the 
very integrity of our zoning ordinance.   
 
At the conclusion of the above comments, fellow Planning Commissioners concurred unanimously. A 
motion was made and seconded to deny the application based on the above reasons and passed 
unanimously. It is probable this application will be appealed to the City Council and the Planning 
Commission stated very specifically that they wanted the council to be made aware of the above 
comments.  
 
Commissioner Ortiz concurred with Commissioner Routh's comments.  She stated Commissioner 
Routh's comments should be forwarded to the City Council verbatim.  She stated her concerns about 
applicant's anticipated number of employees with all of the services proposed:  laundry, cooks, 
servers and the shuttle bus.  She did not support the second floor decks as they eliminate privacy to 
adjacent properties.  She recommended staff incorporate the green building requirements into the 
conditions of approval and that the construction hours be modified to address adjacent businesses 
and residents. 

-147-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_D.pdf



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 6, 2012   
 

P:\Planning Commission\2013 Meeting Packets\6-6-13\Word\Attachment E.doc 

 

Commissioner Smith concurred with Commissioner Routh's comments.  She stated that senior 
housing is an important housing type to incorporate into our community.  But the project, as proposed, 
shows minimal changes from the preliminary review. 
 
Chairperson Graves stated that although the current proposal is scaled back from the prior design in 
the number of units, there are several concerns about the mass of the building the lack of landscaping 
throughout the project site.  There is very minimal privacy afforded to the adjacent neighbors.  He 
supported the concept of senior housing on this site, and the planned development process is the 
correct mechanism to achieve this project, but there are too many units.  He stated that large scale 
developments have not been successful in Capitola noting the Capitola Beach Villas project.  He had 
concerns about the drainage the fence or wall on the west property boundary and the impact of 
balconies facing west into the adjacent residential properties. 
 
Consultant Susan Westman explained through the General Plan process, the 41st Avenue Area study 
provided the applicants with design that included increases to the project density, wider sidewalks and 
higher buildings along 38th Avenue. 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER ROUTH AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
ORTIZ TO RECOMMEND TO THE CITY COUNCIL DENIAL OF A NEGATIVE DECLARATION AND 

THE PROJECT APPLICATION #12-028. 
 

THE MOTION CARRIED ON THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  AYES:  COMMISSIONERS ORTIZ, 
ROUTH, SMITH AND CHAIRPERSON GRAVES.  NOES:  NONE.  ABSENT:  NONE.  ABSTAIN:  
NEWMAN. 

 

-148-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_D.pdf



-149-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-150-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-151-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-152-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-153-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-154-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-155-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-156-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-157-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-158-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-159-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-160-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-161-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-162-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-163-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-164-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-165-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-166-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-167-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-168-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-169-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-170-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-171-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-172-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-173-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-174-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-175-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-176-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-177-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-178-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-179-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-180-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-181-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-182-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-183-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-184-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_E.pdf



-185-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_F.pdf



-186-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_F.pdf



-187-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_F.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-188-



-189-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-190-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-191-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-192-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-193-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-194-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-195-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-196-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-197-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-198-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-199-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-200-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-201-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-202-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-203-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-204-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_G.pdf



-205-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_H.pdf



-206-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_H.pdf



-207-

Item #: 5.C. Attachment_I.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-208-


	AGENDA
	1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS
	A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda
	B. Public Comments
	C. Commission Comments
	D. Staff Comments

	3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	[5-2-13 DRAFT Minutes.pdf]
	A. May 2, 2013 Regular Meeting Minutes

	4. CONSENT CALENDAR
	A. 137 CORTEZ STREET #13-062 APN: 036-226-11
	[137 Cortez Street staff report.pdf]
	[Attachment_A.pdf]
	[Attachment_B.pdf]
	Design Permit to construct a second floor deck in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District.Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionOwner: David McKinnon, filed: 5/6/13


	5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
	A. 4980 CAPITOLA ROAD #13-045 APN: 034-041-07
	[4980 Capitola Road staff report.pdf]
	[Attachment_A.pdf]
	[Attachment_B.pdf]
	Design Permit to convert an existing office use into a duplex in the CR (Commercial/Residential) Zoning DistrictEnvironmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionOwner: Mark MurphyApplicant: Thomas Branagan, filed: 4/5/13

	B. 305 FANMAR WAY #13-026 APN: 035-161-14
	[305 Fanmar Way 6-6-13 staff report.pdf]
	[Attachment A.pdf]
	[Attachment B.pdf]
	[Attachment C.pdf]
	[Attachment D 4-4-13 staff report.pdf]
	Coastal Permit and Design Permit to remodel an existing multi-story mingle-family house, including a first and second story addition in the RM-LM (Multi-Family Residence-Low Medium) Zoning District.Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionThis project requires a Coastal Permit which is not appealable to the California Coastal Commission.Owner: Peter Wilk, filed: 2/19/13Representative: Derek Van Alstine

	C. 1575 38th AVENUE #13-061 APN: 034-181-17
	[1575 38th Avenue PC Staff Report.pdf]
	[Attachment_A.pdf]
	[Attachment_B.pdf]
	[Attachment_C.pdf]
	[Attachment_D.pdf]
	[Attachment_E.pdf]
	[Attachment_F.pdf]
	[Attachment_G.pdf]
	[Attachment_H.pdf]
	[Attachment_I.pdf]
	Planned Development Rezoning, Conditional Use Permit, and Design Permit to demolish a commercial salvage yard (Capitola Freight and Salvage) and construct a three-story, 23-unit residential senior housing project in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District.Environmental Determination: Mitigated Negative DeclarationProperty Owner: Maureen A. Romac, filed: 5/11/13Representative: Steve Thomas


	6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT
	7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS
	8. ADJOURNMENT

